SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-358 Lower Tribunal No. 3D03-1465, 3D03-1532

MARTIN BAKERMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

THE BOMBAY COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER-S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT N. PELIER, ESQUIRE Robert N. Pelier, P.A. 1431 Ponce de Leon Boulevard Coral Gables, FL 33134 Telephone: (305) 529-9199 Facsimile: (305) 529-9290

BARBARA GREEN, ESQUIRE Barbara Green, P.A. Gables One Tower, Suite 450 1320 South Dixie Highway Coral Gables, FL 33146 Telephone: (305) 669-1994 Facsimile: (305) 666-0010 Florida Bar No. 264628

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Martin Bakerman=s fall from a rickety wooden ladder owned by his employer, The Bombay Company, was inevitable. Bombay knew it was only a matter of time before someone was hurt, but, ignoring repeated entreaties from Mr. Bakerman and the store manager, refused to spend the money for a new ladder. Mr. Bakerman fell off the ladder and suffered a comminuted fracture of his foot.

The ladder was in a small store room at the back of the Bombay Company store. Whenever a customer decided to purchase an item from the store, a Bombay employee would have to retrieve it from the store room. The room was extremely small and crowded (T.117, 176). Every day, Mr. Bakerman had to go up and down the ladder to retrieve merchandise from the top shelf, just below the twenty-two foot ceiling (T.176, 179). The ladder was not tall enough for Mr. Bakerman to reach the top shelves in the store room (T. 179). Each time, he had to stand on the top step of the ladder (T.179). Although it was an A-frame ladder, it was difficult to use it in the open position, because, with the shelves and the merchandise, there was not room in the store room to open it completely. The employees had to use the ladder in the closed position, leaning it against the shelves (T.134-135, 180). The ladder was old. It was wobbly. It swayed from side to side. It shook. (T. 120,179, 181). It did not have rubber shoes on the bottom of the legs (T.180).

Again and again, Mr. Bakerman complained to his store manager, Valerie Gottschalk, about the ladder (T.181-182). Again and again, Ms. Gottschalk told the

District Manager, Michael Klein, that someone was going to get hurt, and asked for permission and money to buy a new ladder (T.122). Again and again, permission and money were denied (T. 122,182-184).

Mr. Klein visited the store at least two or three times a month (T.109, 139-40), and the jury could have found that he was well aware of the condition of the ladder and the layout of the storeroom. Ms. Gottschalk spoke to Mr. Klein about the ladder every time he came to the store (T.123). She was sure that he saw the ladder himself (T.123). At least three times, Mr. Bakerman heard Ms. Gottschalk tell Mr. Klein that they had to get rid of the ladder because someone was going to get hurt, and ask him for permission to buy a new one (T.182-183). Each time, Mr. Klein refused (T.194).

Finally, the inevitable happened. Mr. Bakerman, trying to reach an item on the top shelf, momentarily let go of the shelf that he had been holding onto to steady himself, fell from the ladder and suffered a comminuted fracture of his left heel, a painful and permanent injury (T.187-189, 518-526).

Mr. Bakerman sued Bombay. Bombay asserted worker=s compensation immunity as a defense. The trial court denied Bombay=s motion for directed verdict (T.420-424). The court instructed the jury that it could only find Bombay liable if Bombay had engaged in conduct **A**substantially certain@to result in injury or death, and that the **A**mere probability@ of injury was not enough to hold Bombay liable (T.480).

A special interrogatory asked the jury to determine: ADid the Bombay Company engage in conduct substantially certain to result in injury or death? @ The jury answered

Ayes.@ $(T.496-497)^1$ The jury found Bombay 67 percent at fault, and Mr. Bakerman 33 percent at fault (Id.).² In the second half of the bifurcated trial, the jury assessed damages totaling \$176,460, before reduction for comparative fault (R.501).

The trial court denied Bombay=s post trial motions, and entered final judgment for Mr. Bakerman in the amount of \$118,228.20 (R.577). Bombay appealed.

On appeal, the Third District initially affirmed. <u>The Bombay Co., Inc. v.</u> <u>Bakerman</u>, 2004 WL 735628 (Fla. 3d DCA April 7, 2004).³ The panel, relying on this Courts decision in Turner v. PCR, Inc., 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000), found:

We conclude that the **A**substantial certainty[@] standard was met here. The relevant points are: (1) The employer required the employees to stand on the top step of the ladder to reach merchandise on the upper shelves. This would be bad enough as an isolated occurrence but here it was routinely required. (2) This was a worn wooden ladder which swayed from side to side and could be maintained in an upright position only by having the employee manually hold on to the shelving. (3) the ladder was not an

¹ Mr. Bakerman also asserted a spoliation claim against Bombay for destroying the ladder after his fall. The jury rejected that claim (T.497).

² The plaintiff did not raise any issue concerning the applicability of comparative fault to this case.

³ When the opinion was withdrawn by the Third District on rehearing, it was withdrawn from Westlaw. Therefore, a copy is included in the Appendix to this Brief.

appropriate design for the space and had to be propped against the tall shelving instead of being opened. (4) What moves this case into the category of Asubstantial certainty@ was the employer=s repeated failure to respond to the manager=s specific requests for the money to replace this specific ladder.

* * *

The testimony indicated that the ladder would sway badly when an employee climbed near the top, and it was necessary to hold on to the shelving to prevent the ladder from swaying and falling. The jury could conclude that if an employee ever let go of the shelving, the ladder would fall **B** as it did with Bakerman. And the jurors=common sense would tell them that repeated use of this wooden ladder will only grow worse with repeated usage, [sic] thus increasing the danger.

2004 WL 735628 at *3-*4.4

The original opinion concluded that, **A**the fact that the store employees managed to use an unsafe ladder for a period of time . . . did not cure, or eliminate, the ×ubstantial certainty= of injury which existed.@ Id. at *4.

On rehearing, the Third District reversed itself. The court again reviewed this Court=s decision in <u>Turner v. PCR</u>, but this time it held that the employer was entitled to worker=s compensation immunity because it had not concealed the dangerous condition from Mr. Bakerman. Pointing to language in <u>Turner</u> that mentioned **A** a common thread

⁴ In addition to the jurors=Acommon sense,@plaintiff presented an engineer=s expert testimony at trial that a rickety ladder would become worse each time it was used (T. 396-399).

of evidence that the employer tried to cover up the danger, affording the employees no means to make a reasonable decision as to their actions,@the Third District held:

the dangerous condition was evident to the employee and there was no concealment of the danger. For that reason we conclude that the evidence was legally insufficient to support liability under the intentional tort exception to worker's compensation immunity.

Bombay Co. v. Bakerman, 891 So. 2d 555, 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004).

Mr. Bakerman sought review in this Court based on conflict with <u>Turner</u> and with <u>Travelers Indem. Co. v. PCR, Inc., 889 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 2004).</u>

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In <u>Turner v. PCR, Inc.</u>, this Court held that there are two ways to prove that an employers actions amounted to an intentional tort sufficient to overcome workers compensation immunity. One is a subjective test, where the evidence shows a deliberate intent to injure. That is not present in this case. The second is an objective test, applicable where the evidence shows that the defendant knew or should have known that there was a substantial certainty that injury or death would result from its conduct. Contrary to the Third Districts decision on rehearing, the objective test does not require a showing that the defendant attempted to conceal its actions or to prevent the employee from learning of the danger. Such a requirement would turn the objective test into a subjective test. One can only conceal what one actually knows, not what one merely should know.

Under a proper application of the objective substantial certainty test, the trial court correctly left it to the jury to determine that Bombay knew or should have known that its conduct was substantially certain to cause injury or death and that Bombay was not entitled to immunity under the workers compensation law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The error in engrafting a concealment requirement onto the objective substantial certainty test is an issue of law, reviewed de novo. See, e.g., Maggio v. Fla. Dept. of Labor & Emp. Sec., 899 So. 2d 1074, 1076 (Fla. 2005)(Astatutory construction is a question of law subject to de novo review.@) Moreover, in reviewing the grant of a directed verdict for the Defendant, this Court must review the evidence and all inferences in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, and cannot affirm unless no proper view of the evidence could sustain a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff. Owens v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 802 So. 2d 315, 329 (Fla. 2001).

ARGUMENT

BOMBAY IS NOT ENTITLED TO WORKER-S COMPENSATION IMMUNITY BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE JURY TO DETERMINE THAT BOMBAY KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT ITS ACTIONS WERE SUBSTANTIALLY CERTAIN TO RESULT IN INJURY OR DEATH.

The workers compensation system involves a mutual relinquishment of rights by employer and employee. The employee gives up the right to sue for negligence for **A**accidents@at common law in exchange for payment of compensation regardless of fault; the employer gives up common law defenses and accepts strict liability in exchange for immunity from actions under the common law for negligence for **A**accidents.@ <u>Aguilera v</u>. <u>Inservices, Inc.</u>, 2005WL 1403993, 30 Fla. L. Weekly S440 (Fla. 2005). The statute provides coverage for the employee, and corresponding immunity for the employer, only for work-related **A**accidents.@ An **A**accident@is defined in ' 440.02(1) as including **A**only an unexpected or unusual event or result that happens suddenly.@

The workers compensation statute applicable at the time Mr. Bakerman was injured⁵ did not provide coverage or immunity for intentional acts. The jury, the trial court and the original decision of the Third District all properly applied the objective, Asubstantial certainty@test to determine that Bombay was not entitled to immunity under

⁵ In 2003, the Legislature amended '440.11, Florida Statutes. The amendment had two effects. First, it explicitly recognized an intentional tort exception to workers compensation immunity. Second, it set forth a number of statutory criteria to be satisfied before the intentional tort exception could apply, including a concealment requirement. The amendment is not retroactive, see <u>FCCI</u><u>Ins. Co. v. Horne</u>, 890 So. 2d 1141, 1143 n.5 (Fla. 2004), and is not applicable here.

the worker-s compensation statute because its actions in this case amounted to an intentional tort.

In <u>Turner v. PCR, Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that a plaintiff could prove the intentional tort exception to worker=s compensation immunity in either of two ways. The first is by showing a deliberate intent to injure. That is a subjective test. The second is an objective test:

an objective standard to measure whether the employer engaged in conduct which was substantially certain to result in injury. This standard imputes intent upon employers in circumstances where injury or death is objectively "substantially certain" to occur.

754 So. 2d at 691.

By appending to this objective standard a requirement that the employer conceal the danger from the employee, the Third District=s decision on rehearing erroneously converted the **A**substantial certainty@ objective test of <u>Turner</u> into a subjective test, contrary to this Court=s holdings in <u>Turner</u> and <u>Travelers Indem. Co. v. PCR, Inc.</u>, 889 So. 2d 779, 791 (Fla. 2004). Moreover, the Third District misapplied this Court=s decision in <u>Taylor v. School Board of Brevard County</u>, 888 So. 2d 1 (Fla.2004) concerning the proper construction of the worker=s compensation law. The evidence presented to the jury was legally sufficient to allow the jury to find that Bombay should have known that the ladder was substantially certain to cause injury to an employee.

A. The objective test does not require a showing of concealment or a coverup.

Contrary to the finding of the court below, this Court=s decision in <u>Turner</u> does not require a plaintiff, seeking to prove that an employer committed an intentional tort under the objective substantial certainty test, to prove that the employer tried to conceal the danger from the employee. To the contrary, the very nature of an objective test is that no showing of the employer=s subjective state of mind or actual intent is required.

This Court derived the two alternatives for demonstrating an intentional tort from <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.</u>, 498 So. 2d 882, 882-83 (Fla.1986). The Court explained in <u>Turner</u>:

The second part of the alternative test in <u>Fisher</u> comes from <u>Spivey v.</u> <u>Battaglia</u>, 258 So. 2d 815 (Fla.1972), in which this Court cited the Second Restatement of Torts for the proposition that "[w]here *a reasonable man* would believe that a particular result was *substantially certain* to follow, he will be held in the eyes of the law as though he had intended it."

754 So. 2d at 688 (emphasis in original). The Court explained the difference between a subjective test and an objective test:

Under an objective test for the substantial certainty standard, an analysis of the circumstances in a case would be required to determine whether a reasonable person would understand that an employer=s conduct was **A**substantially certain@ to result in injury or death to the employee. Under this approach, *the employer=s actual intent is not controlling*. On the other hand, a subjective approach essentially requires a determination as to whether an employer actually knew or intended the consequences of its conduct. Under this approach, there would actually be no alternative basis for recovery against an employer. Rather, an employee would be limited to

actions where the employer engaged in conduct that the employer *actually knew* would be harmful to the employee.

754 So. 2d at 688 (emphasis added).

The Court expressly rejected a subjective standard, pointing out that a subjective standard **A**appears identical to the first part of the disjunctive test adopted in <u>Fisher</u>, i.e., a deliberate intent to injure, @ and that it **A**would result in the virtual elimination of the alternative test for liability set out in <u>Fisher</u>....@

Under an objective test, A[I]f a circumstance is substantially certain to produce injury or death, the Court explained, Ait cannot reasonably be said that the result is xunexpected= or xunusual. <u>**</u> Turner, 754 So. 2d at 689.

To eliminate the objective test, the Court held, would **A**encourage a practice of willful blindness= on the part of employers who could ignore conditions that under an objective test would be found to be dangerous, and later claim lack of subjective knowledge or intent to harm an employee.@ 754 So. 2d at 691 (emphasis added). This, the Court refused to do.

The Third District=s imposition, on rehearing, of a concealment requirement, results in the Avirtual elimination of the alternative@objective test. It renders the test a subjective one, no different from the Adeliberate intent@alternative. It requires a showing that the employer Aactually knew@its conduct would be harmful to the employee.

The Third District made too much of this Court=s mention in <u>Turner</u> of **A**a common thread of evidence that the employer tried to cover up the danger, affording the employees no means to make a reasonable decision as to their actions.@ 754 So. 2d at

691. Although the Court in <u>Turner</u> did note that **A**common thread@ in <u>Connelly v. Arrow</u> <u>Air, Inc.</u>, 568 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) and <u>Cunningham v. Anchor Hocking</u>, 558 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), it did so only in noting the similarity of the facts in those cases to the facts in <u>Turner</u>. The Court did not hold that such concealment was an essential element to overcome worker=s compensation immunity. It was just one of the factors that the Court considered. While efforts at concealment may be relevant to show intent, the only purpose of *requiring* a showing of concealment would be to show that the employer subjectively *knew*, not that the employer should have known, the substantial certainty of injury to the employee.

In fact, <u>Connelly</u> can and should be read as satisfying both an objective and subjective test. The <u>Connelly</u> court noted that the employer withheld information from employees about the hazardous defects in the aircraft, depriving the employee of the ability **A**to exercise an informed judgment whether to perform the assigned task,[@] demonstrating that the employer **A**acted in a *belief* that harm is substantially certain to occur.=[@] 568 So. 2d at 451 (emphasis added). This demonstration of actual belief is an example of of the subjective test.

However, the <u>Connelly</u> court also noted that at least one of the employees who was killed in the crash did know about the danger. Four days before the crash, one of the stewardesses called her fiancé and told him about the problem with the engine, and that Arrow was not going to have it repaired until the aircraft returned to the United States. The stewardess rejected her fiance=s advice to get off the plane, and was killed in the

crash. 568 So. 2d at 450. The court did not distinguish that stewardess=claim from the claims of the other employees. It allowed all of the employees=claims to proceed on the theory that the employer engaged in conduct which was substantially certain to result in injury or death, including the stewardess who knew about the engine problem and about the employer=s refusal to fix it.

Thus, <u>Connelly</u> did not require that the employer hide information from the employees in order to satisfy the substantial certainty test. It merely noted that, as to some of the employees, that factor was present. It allowed employees to proceed against the employer even if, like Martin Bakerman, the employee knew of the dangerous condition and of the employer=s refusal to fix it.

In order for the employers actions to meet the test the Third District adopted in the present case, however, the employer must actually be aware of the substantial certainty of injury, and must deliberately take steps to hide it from the employee. In order to try to conceal something from someone, the person doing the concealing must have actual knowledge of the thing he is trying to conceal. This concealment requirement eviscerates the objective, substantial certainty test **B** whether a reasonable person would believe that the injury was substantially certain to follow **B** and renders it merely an echo of the first alternative test enunciated in <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Turner</u>, subjective, deliberate intent to injure.

That is not what this Court intended in <u>Turner</u> when it talked about the **A**common thread@ of concealment in the earlier cases. By the time it reached that point in its

discussion, the Court already had determined that the objective standard would apply. The concealment discussion appears in an entirely separate section of the opinion, in which the Court was comparing the facts in the <u>Turner</u> case to the facts in some of the earlier cases. The Court simply noted that one common fact in those cases was the attempt by the employer to **A**cover up the danger.@ 754 So. 2d at 691. The Court did not hold that such a cover-up was a requirement.

In fact, this Court in <u>Turner</u> specifically stated that the facts of two of its earlier cases, <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.</u>, 498 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1986) and <u>Lawton v. Alpine Engineered Products, Inc.</u>, 498 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1986), in which there was no discussion of cover-up or concealment from the employee, would satisfy the objective test. See 754 So. 2d at 691 n. 8 (**A**we nevertheless recede from <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Lawton</u> to the extent those cases can be read as rejecting the facts as stated therein as a sufficient basis to support an allegation of substantial certainty of injury.^(a) Neither of those cases involved concealment of the danger from the employee. Therefore, to hold, as the Third District did below, that concealment by the employer is required before the <u>Turner</u> test can be satisfied, conflicts with the rule announced in <u>Turner</u>.

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