### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARTIN BAKERMAN,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

Case No. SC05-358

District Court Case Nos. 3D03-1465, 3D03-1532

THE BOMBAY COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent/Defendant.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE BOMBAY COMPANY, INC.

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Third District, State of Florida

> Robert E. Biasotti, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0104272 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731 Telephone: (727) 821-7000 Facsimile: (727) 822-3768

Christine R. Dean, Esq. Florida Bar No. 0569372 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. P.O. Drawer 190 Tallahassee, FL 32302-0190 Telephone: (850) 224-1585 Facsimile: (850) 222-0398

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In <u>Turner v. PCR, Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000), this Court recognized that an intentional tort was a valid exception to the broad immunity afforded to employers under Florida's Workers' Compensation Act. One method of proving this exception is by a showing that the employer engaged in conduct that was substantially certain to result in injury or death to the employee. This is an objective test.

Bakerman argues that the Third District inserted a new element of concealment into the substantial certainty test, thus transforming the objective test into a subjective test. The Third District did no such thing. To the contrary, the Third District expressly followed <u>Turner</u> in analyzing whether Bombay's actions rose to the level of culpability required to fall within the intentional tort exception. Not only was the Third District's analysis virtually identical to the analysis identified in <u>Turner</u>, but it is the same analysis that has been routinely applied by every one of Florida's district courts.

The Third District was likewise correct in narrowly construing the intentional tort exception. This Court recently stated in <u>Taylor v. School Board of Brevard County</u>, 888 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2004), that exceptions to workers' compensation immunity should be narrowly construed. Moreover, when the Court first recognized the intentional tort exception, it expressly warned

that the exception must be applied strictly "because nearly every accident, injury, and sickness occurring at the workplace results from someone intentionally engaging in some triggering action." <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.</u>, 498 So. 2d 882, 884 (Fla. 1986).

Finally, the circumstances of this case simply do not rise to the level of culpable negligence sufficient to overcome workers' compensation immunity. Climbing <u>any</u> ladder necessarily presents a risk of injury, and such risk is readily apparent to any employee. Every Florida case construing the intentional tort exception makes one thing clear--the exception does not apply to employer conduct that constitutes nothing more than simple, or even gross, negligence. A mere probability of injury--even one known to the employer--is simply not enough. As the Third District necessarily concluded, simple negligence, or at most gross negligence, is all that was present here.

For these reasons, this Court should find that jurisdiction was improvidently granted in this case and deny review. Alternatively, should this Court decide to retain jurisdiction, the Court should approve the Third District's decision.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Third District concluded that the evidence in this case "was legally insufficient to support liability under the intentional tort exception to workers' compensation immunity." <u>Bombay</u>, 891 So. 2d at 557. That conclusion implicates a question of law. Additionally, this appeal addresses the construction of the judicially-created intentional tort exception to workers' compensation immunity. That issue also implicates a question of law.

This Court reviews questions of law de novo. <u>Wade v.</u> Hirschman, 903 So. 2d 928, 932 (Fla. 2005).

#### ARGUMENT

The pivitol question that the Third District was faced with in this appeal was simple and straight-forward: does Bakerman's claim that Bombay failed to replace a wobbly ladder in a storeroom state a claim for culpable negligence--worse than gross negligence--sufficient to overcome Florida's workers' compensation immunity? As explained more fully below, the answer is no. To find otherwise would completely eviscerate Florida's workers' compensation immunity laws and ignore the clear precedent that has been set forth in numerous cases from this Court and from Florida's district courts.

Bakerman's claim implicates nothing more that a common, everyday workplace accident, precisely the kind of accident that workers' compensation was designed to address and remedy for both employer and employee. To come within the intentional tort exception to workers' compensation immunity, an employee must show that the employer engaged in conduct that was at least worse than "gross negligence." <u>Turner</u>, 754 So. 2d at 687 n.4. There must be evidence in the record that the employer was "culpably or criminally negligent." <u>Fla. Dep't of Transp. v.</u> <u>Juliano</u>, 864 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003), <u>review denied</u>, 866 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 2004). Without such evidence, judgment must be entered for the employer. Id.

THE THIRD DISTRICT, APPLYING THE STANDARDS SET FORTH IN TURNER V. PCR, INC., CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY BAKERMAN WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF LIABILITY UNDER THE INTENTIONAL TORT EXCEPTION TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION IMMUNITY

Bombay respectfully asserts that no express and direct conflict exists between the underlying decision and <u>Turner v.</u> <u>PCR, Inc.</u>, 754 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 2000). The Third District in its decision below followed the exact same logic that this Court employed in <u>Turner</u>. More importantly, and contrary to Bakerman's argument, the Third District did <u>not</u> require a showing of concealment. It did, however--in complete accordance with <u>Turner</u>--require a showing that the employer's conduct was worse than gross negligence. The Third District correctly concluded that no such showing was made in this case, and ordered that judgment be entered for Bombay based on workers' compensation immunity.

In order to demonstrate that the Third District's analysis in the underlying decision is entirely consistent with this Court's analysis in <u>Turner</u>, it is necessary to review the parameters for the objective standard, as set forth in <u>Turner</u>, and to identify the steps that this Court took in <u>Turner</u> to evaluate the facts of that case in light of the "substantially certain to cause injury or death" standard.

# A. In <u>Turner</u>, This Court Reaffirmed The Workers' Compensation Immunity Intentional Tort Exception, And Held That An Employer's Conduct Should Be Evaluated Under An Objective Standard

In <u>Turner</u>, this Court reaffirmed its earlier holding that an employer is not entitled to workers' compensation immunity for its intentional torts. The Court identified two alternative methods by which an employee could establish that an employer committed an intentional tort: (1) a showing that the employer exhibited a deliberate intent to injure (a <u>subjective</u> test); or (2) a showing that the employer engaged in conduct that was "substantially certain to result in injury or death" (an <u>objective</u> test). <u>Turner</u>, 754 So. 2d at 687. This case involves the second alternative.<sup>2</sup>

The <u>Turner</u> Court described the type of conduct that is necessary to support a finding of "substantial certainty of injury," and provided examples of cases where the "substantial certainty" objective test was satisfied. First, the Court confirmed that a finding of "substantial certainty" requires a showing greater than "gross negligence." Id. at 687 n.4. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As recognized by the Third District in the decision below, the intentional tort exception was initially recognized through case law. <u>Bakerman</u>, 891 So. 2d at 557 n.\*. In 2003, however, the Legislature amended section 440.11(1), Florida Statutes, to provide a statutory intentional tort exception and to set forth the standard governing this exception. <u>See</u> § 440.11(1)(b), Fla. Stat.; ch. 2003-412, § 14, Laws of Fla. Because the incident in this case occurred in 1997, the 1997 version of the statute applies here, and the applicable intentional tort exception standard was that established by this Court in Turner.

Court further explained that the "substantial certainty" exception is very similar to the "culpable negligence" intentional tort exception that the Court had previously recognized in <u>Fisher v. Shenandoah Gen. Constr. Co.</u>, 498 So. 2d 882, 882-83 (Fla. 1986); <u>Lawton v. Alpine Engineered Prods.</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 498 So. 2d 879, 880 (Fla. 1986); and <u>Eller v. Shova</u>, 630 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1993). <u>See Turner</u>, 754 So. 2d at 687 n.4 (<u>Fisher</u>, <u>Lawton</u>); <u>id.</u> at 686-87 (<u>Eller</u>).

The Court described "culpable negligence" (<u>i.e.</u>, that level of negligence which is <u>sufficient</u> to overcome the immunity) as "reckless indifference" or "grossly careless disregard" of human life. In contrast, the Court described "gross negligence" (<u>i.e.</u>, that level of negligence which is <u>insufficient</u> to overcome the immunity) as "an act or omission that a reasonable, prudent person would know is likely to result in injury to another." Turner, 754 So. 2d at 687 n.3.

Finally, the Court provided specific examples of cases where the "substantial certainty" test was satisfied, and stepped through the facts of those example cases to identify how the facts in those cases highlighted conduct that was worse than gross negligence. The Court cited to <u>Connelly v. Arrow Air,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 568 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), and <u>Cunningham v.</u> Anchor Hocking Corp., 558 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), as

benchmarks for the objective standard for the intentional tort exception to workers' compensation immunity. See id. at 690.

In <u>Connelly</u>, the evidence before the court suggested that the employer of the deceased employee: (1) intentionally misstated the weight capacity of an aircraft; (2) intentionally and repeatedly kept its aircraft in a defective condition; (3) concealed actual flight loads which resulted in reduced thrust and erroneous fuel calculations; (4) ignored reports of imminent equipment failure; and (5) economically coerced employees to fly in violation of FAA regulations. 568 So. 2d at 449. Eventually, one of the employer's airplanes crashed as a result of this conduct, and the court found that the employer had engaged in conduct that was substantially certain to result in injury or death to its employees. Id. at 451.

The <u>Connelly</u> court based its finding of "substantially certain" conduct on the fact that the actions of the employer were <u>rooted in deceit and misrepresentation</u>." <u>Id.</u> In fact, the court specifically connected the withholding of information to the substantially certain standard:

> [W]here the employer, as in this case, withholds from an employee, knowledge of a defect or hazard which poses a grave threat of injury <u>so that the employee is not</u> <u>permitted to exercise an informed judgment</u> <u>whether to perform the assigned task</u>, the employer will be considered to have acted in a "belief that harm is substantially certain to occur."

Id. (citation omitted).

As the Court in <u>Connelly</u> expressly recognized, it was applying the objective substantial certainty test when it considered whether the actions of the employer were rooted in deceit. <u>Connelly</u>, 568 So. 2d at 451. Contrary to Bakerman's argument, <u>see</u> IB 12, it was not applying a subjective test. The point is that, although the test is an objective one, the employee must identify specific conduct of the employer which would objectively be considered to be worse than gross negligence or the equivalent of culpable negligence.

Like <u>Connelly</u>, <u>Cunningham</u> also involved an employer's misrepresentations relating to the risks present in its glass manufacturing plant:

appellees removed manufacturers' warning labels on toxic substance containers, misrepresented the toxic nature of substances, and knowingly provided inadequate safety equipment, while misrepresenting the danger or extent of toxicity in the plant and the need for proper safety equipment.

<u>Cunningham</u>, 558 So. 2d at 96-97. The plaintiffs' claim in <u>Cunningham</u> fell within the exception to workers' compensation immunity because the plaintiffs demonstrated that the alleged hazard "was intentionally increased and worsened by appellee's deliberate and malicious conduct." <u>Id.</u> at 97. Far more than failing to remedy the risk, the employer increased the risk by

denying its employees information that would have allowed them to take appropriate safety precautions.

Bakerman argues in his initial brief that this Court expressly rejected a concealment requirement in <u>Turner</u> when it receded from its prior decisions in <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Lawton</u>. <u>See</u> IB 9, 14. Bakerman's argument is misplaced in two material ways.

First, Bombay never suggested--nor did the Third District ever find--that <u>Turner</u> requires an element of concealment. To satisfy the objective "substantially certain" standard, <u>Turner</u> requires that the employer's conduct must rise to the level of culpable negligence, conduct that is worse than gross negligence.

Second, a close reading of <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Lawton</u> discloses that, in each case, the facts alleged <u>do</u> rise to a level equal to or worse than culpable negligence. For example, in <u>Fisher</u>, the complaint alleged that the employer knew of the potentially fatal danger to its employee by requiring the employee to clean out an underground pipe with a high pressure hose, but intentionally exposed its employee to it anyway. The employer allegedly refused to furnish necessary safety equipment or comply with OSHA regulations, and "willfully and wantonly" forced its employee to deliberately evade OSHA and other required inspections. Fisher, 498 So. 2d at 883.

In <u>Lawton</u>, an employee caught his hand in a punch-press when a co-worker accidentally put the press into operation as Lawton attempted to adjust the machine. Lawton sued his employer for fraud (an intentional tort). For eight years, the employer had been receiving safety warnings regarding the punchpresses, but apparently not implementing or warning its employees about these safety issues. <u>Lawton</u>, 498 So. 2d at 880.

Contrary to Bakerman's contention, there is no way that <u>Lawton</u> or <u>Fisher</u> can read as rejecting the "worse than gross negligence" culpability requirement of <u>Turner</u>. Moreover, it is also beyond dispute that the facts in both <u>Fisher</u> and <u>Lawton</u> are far more egregious than the facts of this case.

As the last part of its analysis, the <u>Turner</u> Court reviewed the facts alleged in that case. In <u>Turner</u>, one employee died and one was seriously injured from an explosion caused by their employer's use of an ultrahazardous chemical called TFE. The manufacturer of TFE had notified the employer it was discontinuing the sale of TFE in United States because of the high risk of injury associated with the use of that chemical. Indeed, the employer in <u>Turner</u> knew first hand of the high risk of danger associated with TFE because the employer had experienced three similar explosions in less than two years. See 754 So. 2d at 684-85. The Court held that, if proven, the

conduct alleged in that case was at least as disturbing as the conduct in <u>Connelly</u> and <u>Cunningham</u>.

Once again, accepting the facts as alleged in <u>Turner</u>, the "worse than gross negligence/culpable negligence" requirement was met. PCR was aware of a dangerous condition, but had not disclosed the extent of the danger to its employees. The employees thus could not make a reasonable and informed decision as to their actions. <u>See Turner</u>, 754 So. 2d at 691. The alleged conduct thus gave rise to a level of culpable negligence sufficient to constitute an intentional tort. Id.

## B. There Is No Express And Direct Conflict Between The Decision On Review And *Turner*

1. The Third District Did Not Hold That The Objective Test For Determining Whether An Employer Committed An Intentional Tort Requires Proof That The Employer Concealed The Danger

The central premise of Bakerman's argument is that the Third District injected a new element of concealment into the <u>Turner</u> objective substantial certainty test. But that is not what the Third District actually held.

The Third District did nothing more than correctly apply the objective test as set forth in <u>Turner</u>. It did not create a new element to this test, nor did it transform the objective test into a subjective test. The court simply conducted the same analysis that is consistently conducted by Florida courts

in determining whether the circumstances of a particlar case are sufficient to fall within the intentional tort exception to workers' compensation immunity--it compared the facts of this case with those of cases applying the Turner test.

To begin its analysis, the Third District quotes <u>Turner</u>'s admonition that "[a] showing of "`substantial certainty' requires a showing greater than `gross negligence []'...." Bombay, 891 So. 2d at 557. The court then notes:

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